USAWC STRATEGY RESEARCH PROJECT

AFRICAN COMMAND – THE NEWEST COMBATANT COMMAND

by

Lieutenant Colonel Paul P. Cale United States Army

> Professor Robert Coon Project Advisor

This SRP is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Master of Strategic Studies Degree. The U.S. Army War College is accredited by the Commission on Higher Education of the Middle States Association of Colleges and Schools, 3624 Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, (215) 662-5606. The Commission on Higher Education is an institutional accrediting agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education and the Council for Higher Education Accreditation.

The views expressed in this student academic research paper are those of the author and do not reflect the official policy or position of the Department of the Army, Department of Defense, or the U.S. Government.

U.S. Army War College CARLISLE BARRACKS, PENNSYLVANIA 17013

maintaining the data needed, and c including suggestions for reducing	lection of information is estimated to completing and reviewing the collect this burden, to Washington Headqu uld be aware that notwithstanding ar DMB control number.	ion of information. Send comments a arters Services, Directorate for Infor	regarding this burden estimate mation Operations and Reports	or any other aspect of th , 1215 Jefferson Davis I	is collection of information, Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington
1. REPORT DATE 18 MAR 2005		2. REPORT TYPE		3. DATES COVE	RED
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE			5a. CONTRACT NUMBER		
African Command		5b. GRANT NUMBER			
				5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER	
6. AUTHOR(S) Paul Cale				5d. PROJECT NUMBER	
				5e. TASK NUMBER	
				5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER	
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES) U.S. Army War College, Carlisle Barracks, Carlisle, PA,17013-5050				8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER	
9. SPONSORING/MONITO		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)			
				11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)	
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAIL Approved for publ	LABILITY STATEMENT ic release; distributi	on unlimited			
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NO	OTES				
14. ABSTRACT See attached.					
15. SUBJECT TERMS					
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	18. NUMBER OF PAGES	19a. NAME OF
a. REPORT unclassified	b. ABSTRACT unclassified	c. THIS PAGE unclassified	ABSTRACT	27	RESPONSIBLE PERSON

Report Documentation Page

Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188



ABSTRACT

AUTHOR: Lieutenant Colonel Paul P. Cale

TITLE: AFRICAN COMMAND – THE NEWEST COMBATANT COMMAND

FORMAT: Strategy Research Project

DATE: 18 March 2005 PAGES: 27 CLASSIFICATION: Unclassified

African Command (AFRICOM) must be established as the newest Combatant Command in the Unified Command System. The Unified Command Plan (UCP) currently divides the Continent of Africa into areas of responsibility served by European Command, Central Command, and Pacific Command. This current division of Africa, within the UCP, has led to the creation of "seams" between the current combatant command boundaries. EUCOM's focus is based on their expansion into the newest NATO countries on their Eastern border. CENTCOM's focus for the indefinite future is on OEF, OIF, and the future of U.S. presence in the Middle East. PACOM's focus has been and remains on the Asian continent. For these and other reasons that will be further developed the UCP must establish AFRICOM as its Combatant Command Headquarters on the African continent.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
AFRICAN COMMAND - THE NEWEST COMBATANT COMMAND	1
THE UNIFIED COMMAND PLAN:	1
THE NATIONAL SECURITY STRATEGY OF THE UNITED STATES	3
THE NATIONAL MILITARY STRATEGY OF THE UNITED STATES	5
UNITED STATES EUROPEAN COMMAND	6
UNITED STATES CENTRAL COMMAND	
UNITED STATES PACIFIC COMMAND	7
AFRICA TODAY	8
THE CRISIS IN SUDAN	
JUSTIFICATION AND RECOMMENDATION	
CONCLUSION	13
ENDNOTES	15
BIBLIOGRAPHY	19



AFRICAN COMMAND - THE NEWEST COMBATANT COMMAND

Our Nation's cause has always been larger than our Nation's defense. We fight, as we always fight, for a just peace – a peace that favors liberty. We will defend the peace against the threats from terrorists and tyrants. We will preserve the peace by building good relations among the great powers. And we will extend the peace by encouraging free and open societies on every continent.

- President George W. Bush

United States African Command (AFRICOM) must be established as the newest Combatant Command in the Unified Command Plan (UCP) system. The UCP currently divides Africa into areas of responsibility (AOR) served by United States European Command (EUCOM), United States Central Command (CENTCOM), and United States Pacific Command (PACOM). The division of Africa, within the UCP, has led to the creation of seams between the current combatant command boundaries. These seams potentially have been and undoubtedly will be used by terrorists and other criminal elements to avoid detection from U.S. efforts to track and apprehend them.

In light of the above, this research paper will address the current United States National Security and National Military Strategy toward Africa. This paper will then look at an on-going strategically important event in Africa, the crisis in Sudan, and see how the United States is attempting to handle the crisis based on our perceived national interests in that region of Africa. This paper will conclude with recommendations for a new U.S. National Security and National Military strategic approach toward the continent of Africa.

THE UNIFIED COMMAND PLAN:

The Unified Command Plan was established, by the Joint Chiefs of Staff, in 1946. "Following the experience of global warfare in World War II, the Services recognized the importance of unity of military effort achieved through the unified command of US forces. Generally, over the next 50 years, the Unified Command Plan did adapt to the changing strategic environment and to great advances in technology, particularly the growing global reach of US forces."

According to the Unified Action Armed Forces (UNAAF – Joint Pub 0-2) a Unified Command "is a command with broad continuing missions under a single commander, is composed of forces from two or more Military departments, and is established by the President through the Secretary of Defense and with the advice and assistance of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff." Unified Commands are also called Unified Combatant Commands.

EUCOM's present focus is on their expansion into the newest North Atlantic Treaty
Organization (NATO) countries on the Eastern border of the EUCOM AOR. CENTCOM's focus
for the indefinite future is on fighting the global war on terrorism and specifically on conducting
Operations Enduring and Iraqi Freedom (OEF and OIF), as well as balancing the future U.S.
military presence in the CENTCOM AOR. PACOM's current focus remains on the Asian
continent and on the continuing threat of Islamic extremism anchored in the Philippines and
recently spreading throughout the Southeast Asian region. Because of this disjointed current
situation, and its long term implications, the UCP must be redrawn to establish AFRICOM as the
sole Combatant Command Headquarters for Africa.

Under the current UCP, EUCOM's AOR, in addition to every country in Europe and Israel, includes every country on the continent of Africa except Egypt, Sudan, Ethiopia, Eritrea, Djibouti, Somalia, and Kenya (which are in CENTCOM's AOR) and Madagascar (which is in PACOM's AOR).

Joint Vision 2020, published in June 2000, stated that,

The ultimate goal of our military force is to accomplish the objectives directed by the National Command Authorities. For the joint force of the future, this goal will be achieved through full spectrum dominance – the ability of US forces, operating unilaterally or in combination with multinational and interagency partners, to defeat any adversary and control any situation across the full range of military operations...The full range of operations includes maintaining a posture of strategic deterrence. It includes theater engagement and presence activities...It also include those ambiguous situations residing between peace and war, such as peacekeeping and peace enforcement operations, as well as noncombatant humanitarian relief operations...³

The "ultimate goal" of *Joint Vision 2020* will be extremely difficult to achieve on the African continent as long as the United States continues to divide Africa between three Combatant Commanders, who each have their own theater priorities within their AORs. These "theater priorities" seldom focus on Africa until a critical situation has reached a crisis proportion. Crises such as the genocide in Rwanda in 1994, and starvation in Somalia in 1993-1994, serve as reminders that the United States seldom acts in Africa until it is forced to do so by public pressure, the CNN effect, or a United Nations mandate. The on-going crisis in Sudan, discussed at the end of this paper, serves as another example.

Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfield, stated in the 30 Sep 2001, *Quadrennial Defense Review Report* (which was largely written prior to the "911" attacks) that Key Geopolitical Trends include "*Increasing challenges and threats emanating from the territories of weak and failing states*. The absence of capable or responsible governments in many countries in wide areas of Asia, Africa, and the Western Hemisphere creates a fertile ground for non-state actors engaging

in drug trafficking, terrorism, and other activities that spread across borders."⁴ The Saharan Desert region of Northern Africa, including Mauritania, Algeria, Mali, Niger, Libya, Chad, Egypt, and the Sudan, presents an outstanding opportunity for lawlessness on the part of drug traffickers and terrorists or as an opportunity for the United States to establish a military presence to promote regional leadership in this largely ungoverned terrain.

The Quadrennial Defense Review Report continues on the same theme by stating that, In several regions, the inability of some states to govern their societies, safeguard their military armaments, and prevent their territories from serving as sanctuary to terrorists and criminal organizations can also pose a threat to stability and place demands on U.S. forces. Conditions in some states...demonstrate that potential threats can grow out of the weakness of governments as much as out of their strength.⁵

The financial cost of establishing a long-term African military presence, in the form of a new Combatant Command Headquarters, with Component Commands, for Africa will be prohibitively high in the short-term. The larger U.S. issue, in the long-term, is what will be the cost of continuing to apply band-aid solutions to issues as they arise in Africa? Washington must be prepared to deal with the new realities in Africa which include the global war on terrorism, the increasing number of failed states that often lead to acts of genocide, and an AIDS epidemic, all of which when taken together rise to the level of a vital national interest of the United States. As Secretary Rumsfield succinctly stated, "The United States cannot retreat from the world. The presence of American forces overseas is one of the most profound symbols of the U.S. commitment to allies and friends."

THE NATIONAL SECURITY STRATEGY OF THE UNITED STATES

The 2002 National Security Strategy (NSS) of the United States articulates President George W. Bush's security vision for U.S. presence and interaction around the world. The NSS presents several African issues and initiatives to address those issues. On the opening page of the NSS President Bush states, "In a world that is safe, people will be able to make their own lives better. We will defend the peace by fighting terrorists and tyrants. We will preserve the peace by building good relations among the great powers. We will extend the peace by encouraging free and open societies on every continent."

Addressing troubled regions of the world, such as Africa, the NSS offers new initiatives and renewed efforts to existing problems to reinforce the point that the U.S. will remain engaged and not neglect its global responsibilities. "The United States will deliver greater development assistance through the New Millennium Challenge Account to nations that govern justly, invest

in their people, and encourage economic freedom. We will also continue to lead the world in efforts to reduce the terrible toll of HIV/AIDS and other infectious diseases."8

The NSS focuses on the global war on terrorism and recognizes that terrorist cells are located throughout the world and that the U.S. must locate those cells in order to destroy them. "Thousands of trained terrorists remain at large with cells in North America, South America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and across Asia. Our priority will be first to disrupt and destroy terrorist organizations of global reach and attack their leadership; command, control, and communications; material support; and finances." The seams that have been created in Africa between the three Combatant Commands make a coordinated effort against terrorist cells more difficult. The seeds of terrorism must be recognized. Washington must wage a war of ideas with those who support terrorists and their causes in the unstable areas of Africa. America must support moderate governments, especially in the Muslim regions of Africa, so that they can educate their populations before terrorist elements gain a foothold with their youth. 10

When focusing on regional conflicts, the NSS states, "When violence erupts and states falter, the United States will work with friends and partners to alleviate suffering and restore stability. No doctrine can anticipate every circumstance in which U.S. action – direct or indirect – is warranted. We have finite political, economic, and military resources to meet our global priorities."

This appears to be a reactive strategy, at least in the case of Africa, where the U.S. will intervene after violence erupts and states falter. The U.S., like every nation, has finite resources, but if Washington becomes proactive in its strategic approach to Africa, it could save those resources in the long-run. We must break the current cycle in Africa if the United States is going to truly support its interests, values, and principles.

In Africa, promise and opportunity sit side by side with disease, war, and desperate poverty. This threatens both a core value of the United States – preserving human dignity – and our strategic priority – combating global terror. American interests and American principles, therefore, lead in the same direction: we will work with others for an African continent that lives in liberty, peace, and growing prosperity. Together with our European allies, we must help strengthen Africa's fragile states, help build indigenous capability to secure porous borders, and help build up the law enforcement and intelligence infrastructure to deny havens for terrorists.¹²

The NSS addresses the opening of new societies by stating that we will help those countries that are clearly attempting to help themselves. "The Millennium Challenge Account will reward countries that have demonstrated real policy change and challenge those that have not to implement reforms." Focusing on education, "The United States will increase its own funding for education assistance by at least 20 percent with an emphasis on improving basic

education and teacher training in Africa. The United States can also bring information technology to these societies, many of whose education systems have been devastated by HIV/AIDS." ¹⁴ If prudently invested, this policy will pay dividends by using education as the basic building block to create stable governments that are economically interdependent both regionally and globally. The important question becomes does the U.S., and willing western partners, have enough resources and sufficient time to allow this type of new approach to succeed?

The NSS recognizes that Washington requires bases and stations around the globe. "To contend with uncertainty and to meet the many security challenges we face, the United States will require bases and stations within and beyond Western Europe and Northeast Asia, as well as temporary access arrangements for the long-distance deployment of U.S. forces." Establishing AFRICOM as a Combatant Command in Africa would not only provide long-term bases and stations for the U.S. but would also acknowledge that the U.S. understands the strategic significance of Africa. U.S. diplomats would also benefit from the establishment of AFRICOM. "Our diplomats serve at the front line of complex negotiations, civil wars, and other humanitarian catastrophes." With the establishment of AFRICOM, and with U.S. forces forward deployed to AFRICOM Component Command bases throughout Africa, the ability of diplomats to conduct their jobs would be greatly enhanced.

THE NATIONAL MILITARY STRATEGY OF THE UNITED STATES

The 2004 National Military Strategy (NMS) of the United States conveys the opinion of the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General Richard B. Myers. His message to the Joint Force on the strategic direction the Armed Forces of the United States stated that we should support the National Security and Defense Strategies in this time of war. ¹⁷ Further, General Myers stated,

The NMS serves to focus the Armed Forces on maintaining US leadership in a global community that is challenged on many fronts – from countering the threat of global terrorism to fostering emerging democracies. In this environment, US presence and commitment to partners are essential. Our armed forces, operating at home and abroad, in peace and war, will continue to serve as a constant, visible reminder of US resolve to protect common interests.¹⁸

There are problem areas throughout the world. The U.S. has limited resources (diplomatic, informational, military, and economic) that can be used to address potential and actual problems presented in those areas. The NMS recognizes that,

There exists an "arc of instability" stretching from the Western Hemisphere, through Africa and the Middle East and extending to Asia. There are areas in

this arc that serve as breeding grounds for threats to our interests. Within these areas rogue states provide sanctuary to terrorists, protecting them from surveillance and attack. Other adversaries take advantage of ungoverned space and under-governed territories from which they prepare plans, train forces and launch attacks. These ungoverned areas often coincide with locations of illicit activities; such coincidence creates opportunities for hostile coalitions of criminal elements and ideological extremists.¹⁹

Africa has rogue states, vast ungoverned space and under-governed territories that cannot be watched, on a daily basis, from EUCOM, CENTCOM and PACOM headquarters. The establishment of AFRICOM will allow a dedicated Combatant Commander to work the intricate military issues and support the diplomatic processes of this long forgotten continent. The NMS describes what could and should be accomplished when,

Combatant commanders, employing a mix of forward stationed, rotational and temporarily deployed capabilities tailored to perform specific missions, improve our ability to act within and across borders, strengthen the role of partners and expand joint and multinational capabilities. Posture and presence enhancements also serve to assure our friends; improve the ability to prosecute the WOT; deter, dissuade and defeat other threats; and support transformation. These changes, developed in anticipation of future threats, help to ensure strategic access to key regions and lines of communications critical to US security and sustaining operations throughout the battlespace.²⁰

In his NMS conclusion General Myers states, "To succeed, the Armed Forces must integrate Service capabilities in new and innovative [*sic*], reduce seams between combatant commands and develop more collaborative relationships with partners at home and abroad."²¹ So much more could be accomplished in Africa if the U.S. and our allies would work together with a long-term strategic vision instead of reacting to events on a crisis-by-crisis basis.

UNITED STATES EUROPEAN COMMAND

Today USEUCOM has 90 countries and territories in its AOR. That AOR includes every country in Europe, Israel, and every country on the continent of Africa except Egypt, Sudan, Ethiopia, Eritrea, Djibouti, Somalia, Kenya and Madagascar.²²

In regards to U.S. military involvement in Africa, General James Jones (USMC), Commander of U.S. European Command stated, "Expanding U.S. military presence on the African continent could help local armies fight terrorism by fostering more regional cooperation.²³ A program called the Pan Sahel Initiative (PSI) is underway in sub-Saharan Africa, with Special Operations Command Europe forces working in Mali and Mauritania and Marines working in Chad and Niger training and equipping company-sized units for border defense and counterterrorism.²⁴

The missions envisioned by General Jones have two purposes. First, the training would help other nationals trying to protect their own borders, including fighting drug and arms smuggling. Second, it would give the U.S. increased visibility as it fights to keep terrorist organizations from taking root in struggling democracies. General Jones hopes other countries will join the United States in shouldering the burden in this new front on the war on terrorism. Jones added that the key to such programs is that nations can strike at terrorism before terrorism can prosper.²⁵ EUCOM's military engagement plan in Africa currently involves only countries in North Africa and has no corresponding linkage to the CENTCOM based African countries that share the same inherent problems that the PSI countries have.

Removing the 42 African countries currently in EUCOM, and placing them into AFRICOM, would leave the EUCOM AOR with 48 countries and territories in Europe and with Israel in the Middle East. This change would allow EUCOM to focus on the expansion of NATO into Eastern Europe, as well as the current downsizing of U.S. forces based in Europe.

UNITED STATES CENTRAL COMMAND

Today CENTCOM's AOR includes 27 culturally and economically diverse nations located in the Horn of Africa, South and Central Asia, and the Northern Red Sea regions, as well as the Arabian Peninsula and Iraq.²⁶

The CENTCOM countries in or near the Horn of Africa area are Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, and Sudan. The region borders the critical sea lines of communication through the Red Sea. Famine, drought, and disease ravage the region, and civil wars in most of these countries have further exacerbated the problems.²⁷

Removing seven African countries from CENTCOM would leave the CENTCOM AOR with 20 countries. This change would allow CENTCOM to remain focused on their combat operations in support of OIF and OEF, and on the future presence of the U.S. in the Middle East, and in Central and South Asia.

UNITED STATES PACIFIC COMMAND

Today PACOM's AOR includes 44 Asian-Pacific countries and entities. The AOR stretches from the islands of the South Pacific, through Australia and Micronesia, to India, China, Mongolia, and Japan.²⁸ The PACOM AOR also includes Madagascar, located less than 300 miles east of Mozambique, which sits on the far western end of the PACOM AOR and approximately two thousand miles from its nearest PACOM neighbor.

Removing Madagascar from PACOM would leave the PACOM AOR with 43 Asia-Pacific countries and entities. This change would allow PACOM to remain focused on the Asian

continent and on the increasing threat of Islamic extremism anchored in the Philippines and currently spreading throughout the Southeast Asia-Pacific region.

AFRICA TODAY

Africa today is a continent that remains rooted in the 19th century while being on the verge of entering the 21st century. It is a complex continent defined by increasing resources, new lines of communication between itself and the rest of the world, and an expanding economic codependence, yet Africa also has an evolving terror infrastructure, is a provider of instability into Europe by way of refugees, human trafficking, and smuggling, and Africa has a continental AIDS epidemic that is both catastrophic, expanding, and invisible at the same time.

Africa today remains a continent seemingly cut-off from the rest of the world and ignored until a major humanitarian crisis or terrorist attack brings its misery to the evening news. Since the end of the African colonial era, in the early 1960s, countries in Africa have been forced to live within their western imposed national boundaries while attempting to live a tribal, nomadic, lifestyle throughout huge areas of the African continental land mass.

Thomas P.M. Barnett, in his article *The Pentagon's New Map*, stated,

Show me a part of the world that is secure in its peace and I will show you strong or growing ties between local militaries and the U.S. military. Show me regions where major war is inconceivable and I will show you permanent U.S. military bases and long-term security alliances. Show me the two strongest investment relationships in the global economy and I will show you two postwar military occupations that remade Europe and Japan following World War II.²⁹

What Africa lacks today is a continental wide stabilizing mechanism. Although there have been several attempts to create regional organizations within Africa, such as the Economic Community of Western African States (ECOWAS) or the African Union (AU), they have by and large been marginalized by a lack of consistent support from the developed world. The United Nations (UN) attempts to address immediate concerns when they arise throughout Africa, but like the regional organizations, the UN has been unable to bring the world together to address the long-term issues that are required to move Africa toward a peaceful future. In their book *Competing Visions for U.S. Grand Strategy*, Barry Posen and Andrew Ross state, "The UN remains a weak institution. Though it has been remarkably busy at peacekeeping over the last five or six years, it has proven ineffectual wherever the local parties have been even moderately resistant. Regional institutions did not do much better."³⁰

The State Departments Bureau of African Affairs released the following information concerning ECOWAS on 22 Nov 2002;

The Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) is a regional group of 15 countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, Côte d'Ivoire, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone and Togo) that was founded by treaty in May 1975. ECOWAS was conceived as a means toward economic integration and development intended to lead to the eventual establishment of an economic union in West Africa, enhancing economic stability and enhancing relations between member states... Political instability has hindered progress in ECOWAS' primary mandate to promote economic integration and regional cooperation.³¹

The AU was established in 1999. The AU was essentially a reorganization of the former Organization of African Unity. As published on the AU website, the following are a few objectives of the AU:

- To achieve greater unity and solidarity between the African countries and the peoples of Africa;
- (2) To defend the sovereignty, territorial integrity and independence of its Member States;
- (3) To encourage international cooperation, taking due account of the Charter of the United Nations and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights;
- (4) To promote peace, security, and stability on the continent;
- (5) To promote and protect human and peoples' rights in accordance with the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights and other relevant human rights instruments;
- (6) To work with relevant international partners in the eradication of preventable diseases and the promotion of good health on the continent.³²

Both ECOWAS and the AU have used their organization's resources several times, since they were established, to intervene in regional crises. The UN has attempted to channel international resources into these organizations so that Africans can attempt to solve their own problems. Corruption and greed seem to follow these interventions as soon as international support or oversight is withdrawn.

President Bush proposed, in his address to the UN General Assembly, on 21 September 2004, that an attempt be made to create an African military organization that would be used by Africans to help Africans. He proposed that,

Because we believe in human dignity, the world must have more effective means to stabilize regions in turmoil, and to halt religious violence and ethnic cleansing. We must create permanent capabilities to respond to future crises. The United States and Italy have proposed a Global Peace Operations Initiative. G-8

countries will train 75,000 peacekeepers, initially from Africa, so they can conduct operations on that continent and elsewhere. The countries of the G-8 will help this peacekeeping force with deployment and logistical needs.³³

African problems are deep and intertwined. National economic instability, throughout the majority of countries in Africa, provides the breeding ground for political, military, and religious instability which ultimately has provided the welcome mat to terrorist. Ellen Frost, in her article, "Globalization and National Security: A Strategic Agenda" noted,

International and regional comparisons are particularly relevant to U.S. foreign policy and security strategy. To revert to the standard measurement, the gap between the per capita GDP of one nation or region and that of other nations and regions has been growing. In sub-Saharan Africa, for example, per capita GDP in the 1990s is about the same as it was in the 1960s, while in every other region it has grown. African population growth has swelled the numbers of impoverished people by another 30 million. Africa's share of international trade has declined, while its indebtedness is the highest in the world.³⁴

GDP, trade, population growth and other metrics used to evaluate – in western terms – the situation in Africa seem to be pointing in the wrong direction. Perhaps the most important measurement and potentially the most disastrous to the rest of the world is the AIDS/HIV epidemic on-going in Africa. Rock star Bono in an interview with Bill O'Reilly, on 01 Sep 2004, noted,

It's an emergency. 69,000 Africans dying every day of a preventable, treatable disease...I'm not asking drug companies to behave like philanthropists. I'm saying we, our governments, United States and Europe, have to deal with this problem. If we don't, we will reap a very ill wind. This is – it's not just being bleeding hearts here. The strategic implications. There's 10 million AIDS orphans in Africa right now. There will be 20 by the end of the decade. 12 right now. This is chaos. This is consummating (ph) havoc, and the war against terror, which you talk about every night, is bound up in the war against poverty. I didn't say that. Colin Powell said that.³⁵

A 2004 map of Africa pictorially displays 50 countries. Several of these countries are no more than failed states or states on the verge of collapse. African regional organizations are at best in their infancy. Power is held by war lords, autocrats, tribal chiefs, and dictators. Democracy has taken root in very few countries. Joseph S. Nye. Jr., in his book, *Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics*, articulately observes,

Power today is less tangible and less coercive among the advanced democracies than it was in the past. At the same time, much of the world does not consist of advanced democracies, and that limits the global transformation of power. For example, most African and the Middle Eastern countries have preindustrial

agricultural economies, weak institutions, and authoritarian rulers. Failed states such as Somalia, Congo, Sierra Leone, and Liberia provide venues for violence.³⁶

Along with failed and impoverished states, Africa is also a continent which has vast spaces, many of which are extremely harsh and desolate. These failed states and ungoverned areas present breeding grounds for criminals and terrorist alike. Vice Admiral A. K. Cebrowski, the head of military transformation within the Office of the Secretary of Defense, noted in 2003,

The absence of capable or responsible governments in many countries in wide areas of Asia, Africa, and the Western Hemisphere creates a fertile ground for non-state actors to engage in terrorism, acquisition of CBRN weapons, illegal drug trafficking, and other illicit activities across state borders...In an era of catastrophic terrorism, the United States cannot afford to ignore the anarchy that threatens a number of regions of the world.³⁷

Additionally, Vice Admiral Lowell E. Jacoby, Director of the DIA, stated to the Senate Armed Services Committee on 26 Feb 2004, in regards to threats to the United States that,

We are also increasingly concerned over "Ungoverned Spaces," defined as geographic areas where governments do not exercise effective control. Terrorist groups and narcotraffickers use these areas as sanctuaries to train, plan and organize, relatively free from interference. There are numerous "Ungoverned Spaces" around the world such as... several areas in Africa...Ungoverned spaces include densely populated cities where terrorists can congregate and prepare for operations with relative impunity. I believe these areas will play an increasingly important role in the War on Terrorism as al-Qaida, its associated groups and other terrorist organizations use these areas as bases for operations.³⁸

In the *National Strategy for Combating Terrorism*, published in February 2003, President Bush addressed both ungoverned territory as well as weak and failing states,

The United States will work in concert with our international and regional partners to ensure effective governance over ungoverned territory, which could provide sanctuary to terrorists. Where there is a clear indication of terrorist activity in these areas, the United States, in conjunction with our friends and allies, will work to eliminate these terrorist sanctuaries and preclude any future access to these areas by terrorist organizations... Weak states and failed ones are a source of international instability. Often, these states may become a sanctuary for terrorism...The principal objective of our collective response will be the rebuilding of a state that can look after its own people – their welfare, health, prosperity, and freedom – and control its borders.³⁹

THE CRISIS IN SUDAN

Within the last two months, the on-going 21-year-old civil war in southern Sudan, which has displaced more than 4 million people from their homes and claimed the lives of an

estimated 2 million more, has finally been brought to the world's attention.⁴⁰ "It is genocide. I've seen it with my own eyes," said Rep. Frank Wolf, R-Va., co-chairman of the Congressional Human Rights Caucus. "If this were taking place in southern France or western Germany, the world would be electrified."

On 12 August 2004, the President of Sudan, Lt. Gen. Omar Ahmad al-Bashir, stated, "We are, truthfully, capable of providing security for the Sudani citizen and we are not willing to accept any foreign forces because honestly, foreign forces will only complicate the situation."⁴² For years, nations have turned a blind eye on the situation in Sudan due to the sovereignty of Sudan.

On 01 September 2004, Secretary-General Kofi Annan told the Security Council that the Sudanese government had not done enough to provide security for the 1.2 million "terrorized and traumatized" people displaced by the violence, which may lead to additional sanctions against Sudan.⁴³ U.S. Secretary of State Powell stated, "We concluded that genocide has been committed in Darfur and that the government of Sudan and the Janjaweed (Arab militias) bear responsibility -- and genocide may still be occurring," Powell added that as a contracting party to an international genocide convention, Sudan is obliged to prevent and punish acts of genocide.⁴⁴

President Bush, in his 30 September 2004 presidential debate with Senator Kerry, in reference to the crisis in Sudan stated,

We ought to be working with the African Union to do so -- precisely what we did in Liberia. We helped stabilize the situation with some troops, and when the African Union came, we moved them out. My hope is that the African Union moves rapidly to help save lives. And fortunately the rainy season will be ending shortly, which will make it easier to get aid there and help the long-suffering people there.⁴⁵

Under the current UCP, Sudan is located in CENTCOM's AOR, while Chad, which is located on the western border of Sudan, is in EUCOM's AOR. The Darfur region of Sudan sits astride those two countries' borders. If AFRICOM was established this inter-Combatant Command seam would be eliminated and U.S. efforts, both diplomatic and military, could have been brought to bear on this crisis before several million people had been displaced and over 50,000 had been killed.

JUSTIFICATION AND RECOMMENDATION

The research conducted for this paper clearly indicates that the United States has avoided direct involvement in Africa for far too long. Washington puts at risk its long-term security, and prestige as the world's sole remaining super power if it does not become directly involved in

helping to lead Africa into the 21st century. The United States, working with other partners in the world, should establish a "Marshall Plan" for Africa. The U.S. portion of the plan should be centered on the establishment of a new Combatant Command for Africa.

In order for the United States to have a more effective and credible NSS and NMS, toward the Continent of Africa, it must establish a long-term military presence that will serve to lead the countries of Africa toward a more stable future. The Secretary of Defense (SECDEF) should direct the establishment of AFRICOM, as the newest Combatant Command within the UCP, with an AOR that encompasses the 50 countries in Africa. The SECDEF should also direct the establishment of AFRICOM Component Commands by the United States Army, United Sates Marine Corps and the establishment of a sub-unified command, to AFRICOM, by the United States Special Operations Command. The SECDEF should further direct the United States Air Force and the United States Navy to conduct and submit feasibility studies pertaining to the necessity of their services establishing Component Commands within AFRICOM.

The division of Africa, within the current UCP, has led to the creation of seams between the three combatant command boundaries. These seams potentially have been and will continue to be used by terrorists, rogue states, and other criminal elements to avoid detection from the United States efforts to track and apprehend them.

CONCLUSION

If the United States does not act now to create a single Combatant Command for the entire continent of Africa it risks both short and long-term effects. The effects may currently be peripheral interests, but may become vital national interests of the United States within the next 10 to 20 years. The United States has to weigh the cost of establishing AFRICOM, and its potential forward deployed Component Commands which could be located throughout the length and breadth of Africa, against the cost of maintaining the status quo in the short-term and the potential for continued humanitarian crises, the spread of terrorism, and an economic implosion of the African continent in the long-term.

The United States is the single remaining super power in the world. If Washington wants to retain its economic and military leadership throughout the world, it must become more actively involved on the African continent. The best way of showing the world that it is totally committed to Africa is by establishing African Command as the sole Combatant Command for the Continent of Africa.

WORD COUNT=5,656

ENDNOTES

- ¹ Joint Chiefs of Staff, *The History of the Unified Command Plan 1946-1993*, Joint History Office (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, February 1995), 1.
- ² Joint Chiefs of Staff *Unified Action Armed Forces (UNAAF)*, Joint Pub 0-2. (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, 10 July 2001), V-5.
- ³ Henry H. Shelton, *Joint Vision 2020* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, 2000), 8; available from http://www.dtic.mil/jointvision/jv2020.doc; Internet; accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- ⁴ Donald H. Rumsfield, *Quadrennial Defense Review Report* (Washington, D.C.: The Pentagon, 2001), 5.
 - ⁵ Ibid.
 - ⁶ Ibid, 11.
- ⁷ George W. Bush, *The National Security Strategy of the United States of America* (Washington, D.C.: The White House, 2002), iii.
 - ⁸ Ibid, v.
 - ⁹ Ibid, 5.
 - ¹⁰ Ibid, 6.
 - ¹¹ Ibid, 9.
 - ¹² Ibid, 10-11.
 - 13 Ibid, 22.
 - ¹⁴ Ibid, 23.
 - ¹⁵ Ibid, 29.
 - ¹⁶ Ibid, 31.
- ¹⁷ Richard B. Myers, *National Military Strategy of the United States of America. A Strategy for Today; A Vision for Tomorrow* (Washington, D.C.: The Pentagon, 2004), iii.
 - 18 Ibid.
 - ¹⁹ Ibid, 5.
 - ²⁰ Ibid, 10.
 - ²¹ Ibid, 23.

- ²² "United States European Command Area of Responsibility (AOR)," 25 March 2004; available from ; Internet; accessed 12 Nov 2004.
- ²³ Vince Crawley and Gordon Lubold, "African deployments coming, Jones says," *Army Times*, 26 April 2004, p. 18.
 - ²⁴ Ibid.
 - 25 Ibid.
- ²⁶ "United States Central Command AOR." available from http://www.centcom.mil/aboutus/aor.htm; Internet; accessed 12 Nov 2004.
 - 27 Ibid.
- ²⁸ "United States Pacific Command." available from http://www.pacom.mil/about/aor.shtml; Internet; accessed 12 Nov 2004.
- ²⁹ Barnett, Thomas P.M., "The Pentagon's New Map," *Esquire Magazine Online* March 2003 [journal on-line]; a vailable from http://www.esquire.com/features/articles/2004/040510 _mfe_barnett_1.html>; Internet; accessed 05 Oct 2004.
- ³⁰ Barry R. Posen and Andrew L. Ross, "Competing Visions for U.S. Grand Strategy," International Security 21, no. 3 (Winter 1996/97), 46.
- ³¹ "Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)," 22 Nov 2002; available from http://www.state.gov/p/af/rls/fs/15437.htm; Internet; accessed 21 Sep 2004.
- ³² "African Union in a Nutshell," available from http://www.African-union.org/About_AU/Abau_in_a_nutshell.htm; Internet; accessed 11 Nov 2004.
- ³³ "Bush Speaks of Shared Values at U.N.," 21 Sep 2004; available from http://www.foxnews.com/story/0,2933,132976,00.html; Internet; accessed 21 Sep 2004.
- ³⁴ Ellen L. Frost, "Globalization and National Security: A Strategic Agenda," The Global Century (June 2001), 46.
- ³⁵ "Bono: Not Facing AIDS Crisis 'Foolhardy'," 02 Sep 2004; available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131198,00.html; Internet; accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- ³⁶ Joseph S. Nye, Jr., Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics (New York, NY.: Public Affairs, 2004), 30.
- ³⁷ A.K. Cebrowski, *Military Transformation: A Strategic Approach* (Washington, D.C.: Office of the Secretary of Defense, Fall 2003), 15.
- ³⁸ Lowell E. Jacoby, "Current and Projected National Security Threats to the United States," Statement for the Record, Senate Armed Services Committee, 26 Feb 2004; available from http://armed-services.senate.gov/statemnt/2004/March/Jacoby.pdf; Internet; accessed 26 Oct 2004, 4.

- ³⁹ George W. Bush, *National Strategy for Combating Terrorism* (Washington, D.C.: The National Security Council, February 2003), 22-23.
- ⁴⁰ "Sudan says it's willing to talk about Darfur," *Carlisle (PA) Sentinel*, 26 Sep 2004, sec. A, p. 6.
- ⁴¹ Peter Brownfeld, "Washington Split on Sudan," 13 Aug 2004; available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,128741,00.html; Internet; accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- ⁴² "Sudanese president talks to CNN," 31 Aug 2004; available from http://edition.cnn.com/2004/WORLD/African/08/31/amanpour.bashir/index.html; Internet; accessed 05 Sep 2004.
- ⁴³ "Peace Talks Stalled in the Sudan," 06 Sep 2004; available from < http://www.fox news.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131564,00.html>; Internet; accessed 06 Sep 2004.
- ⁴⁴ "Powell: Sudan Atrocities Are Genocide," 09 Sep 2004; available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131873,00.html; Internet; accessed 09 Sep 2004.
- ⁴⁵ "Transcript & Video: Debate #1," 01 Oct 2004; available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,134152,00.html; Internet; accessed 01 Oct 2004.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- "African Crisis Response Initiative (ACRI)." 03 Jul 2003. Available from http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2003/22237.htm. Internet. Accessed 21 Sep 2004.
- "African Union in a Nutshell." Available from http://www.Africa-union.org/About_AU /Abau in a nutshell.htm>. Internet. Accessed 11 Nov 2004.
- "African Union Sending More Troops to Darfur." 20 Oct 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,136080,00.html Internet. Accessed 21 Oct 2004.
- "Annan: Signs of War Crimes in Sudan." 03 Nov 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,137519,00.html. Accessed 04 Nov 2004.
- "At Least 180 Congolese Massacred in Refugee Camp." 14 Aug 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,128989,00.html. Internet. Accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- Barnett, Thomas P.M. "The Pentagon's New Map." *Esquire Magazine Online* March 2003. Journal on-line. Available from http://www.esquire.com/features/articles/2004/040510_mfe_barnett_1.html. Internet. Accessed 05 Oct 2004.
- "Bono: Not Facing AIDS Crisis 'Foolhardy'." 02 Sep 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131198,00.html. Internet. Accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- Brownfeld, Peter. "Washington Split on Sudan," 13 Aug 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,128741,00.html. Internet. Accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- Bush, George W. *National Strategy for Combating Terrorism*. Washington, D.C.: The National Security Council, February 2003.
- Bush, George W. *The National Security Strategy of the United States of America*. Washington, D.C.: The White House, September 2002.
- "Bush Speaks of Shared Values at U.N." 21 Sep 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/story/0,2933,132976,00.html. Internet. Accessed 21 Sep 2004.
- Cebrowski, A.K. *Military Transformation: A Strategic Approach*. Washington, D.C.: Office of the Secretary of Defense, Fall 2003.
- Crawley, Vince, and Gordon Lubold. "African deployments coming, Jones says." *Army Times*,26 April 2004, p. 18.
- "Darfur talks end with partial agreement." 11 Nov 2004. Harrisburg (PA) The Patriot-News. 11 Nov 2004. sec A. p. A17.
- "Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)." 22 Nov 2002. Available from http://www.state.gov/p/af/rls/fs/15437.htm. Internet. Accessed 21 Sep 2004.

- Frost, Ellen L. "Globalization and National Security: A Strategic Agenda." *The Global Century*, June 2001.
- "Ivory Coast Mobs Attack French Base." 07 Nov 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,137846,00.html Internet. Accessed 07 Nov 2004.
- "Ivory Coast troops, French forces clash." 07 Nov 2004. Harrisburg (PA) Sunday Patriot News, 07 Nov 2004, sec A, p. A19.
- Jacoby, Lowell E. "Current and Projected National Security Threats to the United States."

 Statement for the Record, Senate Armed Services Committee, 26 Feb 2004. Available from http://armed-services.senate.gov/statemnt/2004/ March/ Jacoby.pdf>. Internet. Accessed 26 Oct 2004.
- Nauert, Heather. "Bin Laden's Path Crossed Through Sudan," 05 Oct 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,134544,00.html. Internet. Accessed 05 Oct 2004.
- Nauert, Heather. "U.S. on Lonely Mission in Sudan," 08 Oct 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,134928,00.html. Internet. Accessed 08 Oct 2004.
- "Nigeria Toll Posted." 08 Oct 2004. Harrisburg (PA) The Patriot-News, 08 Oct 2004, sec. A, p. A10.
- Marcella, Gabriel. "National Security and the Interagency Process." *USAWC Department of National Security and Strategy*, 2005.
- Myers, Richard B. National Military Strategy of the United States of America. A Strategy for Today; A Vision for Tomorrow. Washington, D.C.: The Pentagon, 2004.
- Nye, Joseph S. Jr. Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics. New York, NY.: Public Affairs, 2004.
- "Peace Talks Stalled in the Sudan." 06 Sep 2004. Available from < http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131564,00.html>. Internet. Accessed 06 Sep 2004.
- Posen, Barry R. and Andrew L. Ross. "Competing Visions for U.S. Grand Strategy." International Security 21, no. 3 (Winter 1996/97): 5-53.
- Powell, Colin L. "A Strategy of Partnerships." Foreign Affairs 83, no. 1 (Jan-Feb 2004): 22 Database on-line. Available from ProQuest. Accessed 06 Sep 2004.
- "Powell: Sudan Atrocities Are Genocide." 09 Sep 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,131873,00.html. Internet. Accessed 09 Sep 2004.
- "Present at the Creation: Survey: America's World Role." 27 Jun 2002. Available from http://www.economist.com/surveys/showsurvey.cfm?issue=20020629. Internet. Accessed 08 Sep 2004.

- Rumsfield, Donald H. *Quadrennial Defense Review Report*. Washington, D.C.: The Pentagon, 30 September 2001.
- Shelton, Henry H. *Joint Vision 2020*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, 2000. Available from http://www.dtic.mil/jointvision/jv2020.doc. Internet. Accessed 04 Sep 2004.
- "Sudan Rebels Say Darfur Talks Collapse." 15 Sep 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,132431,00.html. Internet. Accessed 15 Sep 2004.
- "Sudan says it's willing to talk about Darfur." Carlisle (PA) Sentinel, 26 Sep 2004, sec. A, p. 6.
- "Sudanese president talks to CNN." 31 Aug 2004. Available from http://edition.cnn.com/2004/WORLD/Africa/08/31/amanpour.bashir/index.html. Internet. Accessed 05 Sep 2004.
- "Transcript & Video: Debate #1." 01 Oct 2004. Available from http://www.foxnews.com/printer_friendly_story/0,3566,134152,00.html. Internet. Accessed 01 Oct 2004.
- "United States Central Command AOR." Available from http://www.centcom.mil/aboutus/aor.htm, Internet, Accessed 12 Nov 2004.
- "United States European Command Area of Responsibility (AOR)." 25 March 2004. Available from http://www.eucom.mil/Navigation_Frames/AOR_nf.htm&1. Internet. Accessed 12 Nov 2004.
- "United States Pacific Command." Available from http://www.pacom.mil/about/aor.shtml. Internet. Accessed 12 Nov 2004.
- "U.N. To Meet On Sudan." 27 Oct 2004. Harrisburg (PA) The Patriot-News, 27 Oct 2004, sec. A, p. A2.
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. *The History of the Unified Command Plan 1946-1993*. Joint History Office. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, February 1995.
- U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff. *Unified Action Armed Forces (UNAAF)*. Joint Pub 0-2. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff, 10 July 2001.